IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

PANORAMA TOWERS CONDOMINIUM
UNIT OWNERS' ASSOCIATION, a Nevada
non-profit corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

LAURENT HALLIER, an individual;
PANORAMA TOWERS I, LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company; PANORAMA
TOWERS I MEZZ, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company; and M.J. DEAN
CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Nevada
corporation,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Sep 21 2020 07:29 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada
The Honorable Susan H. Johnson, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-16-744146-D

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

FRANCIS I. LYNCH (#4145)
LYNCH & ASSOCIATES LAW GROUP

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3(b)(1). The district court entered its order pursuant to Rule 54(b), which certified an earlier summary judgment order as a final, appealable judgment, on August 13, 2019. On September 9, 2019, defendant/counter-claimant Panorama Towers Condominium Unit Owners' Association filed a post-judgment motion Rule 59(e). *See* NRAP 4(a)(4).

The district court entered its order denying the post-judgment motion on January 16, 2020. 26 AA4535–4546.¹ Defendant/counter-claimant timely appealed on February 13, 2020. 27 AA4772–4817.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal to resolve important issues of first impression, including (1) whether the retroactively lengthened statute of repose that went into effect while this case was pending before the district court should be given effect in this action; (2) whether constructional-defect claims are compulsory counterclaims and relate back to the date of the complaint where the recipients of a Chapter 40 notice pre-emptively file suit for damages and declaratory relief against the claimant; and (3) what factors guide NRS 40.695(2)'s good-cause determination

¹ References to “__ AA__” refer to the volume and page number of Appellant's Appendix.

when courts are asked to extend the tolling period in residential constructional-defect actions. NRAP 17(a)(11), (12).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the district court erred by twice declining to apply the new, retroactively lengthened statute of repose to the Association's constructional-defect claims after AB 421 went into effect even though (a) the Association timely filed a motion for reconsideration of the summary judgment order, and (b) after NRCP 54(b) certification of that order, the Association timely filed an NRCP 59(e) motion to alter or amend the judgment based on this change in controlling law.

2. Whether the district court erred by ruling the Association's constructional-defect counterclaim was not logically related to the Builders' complaint challenging the Association's notice of defects; did not relate back to the date of the Builders' complaint; and, therefore, was not filed before expiration of NRS 40.695(1)'s automatic tolling of the statute of repose.

3. Whether the district court erred in interpreting and applying NRS 40.695(2)'s good-cause requirement to decline the Association's request to extend the NRS 40.695(1) tolling period where the Association acted diligently and the Builders failed to identify any prejudice from such an extension.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Panorama Towers Condominium Unit Owners' Association ("Association") appeals from orders granting summary judgment on all of the Association's claims that were later certified as final pursuant to Rule 54(b) in the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Susan H. Johnson, District Judge, presiding.

The Association includes the owners of 616 condominium units in the Panorama Towers located in Las Vegas, Nevada ("Towers"). In 2009, the Association filed suit against the project developers, architect, and general contractor related to certain alleged constructional defects. In June 2011, the parties to that suit entered into a settlement agreement and the Association provided a release for all claims known to it at that time.

In February 2016, after the Association discovered four new constructional defects in the Towers, the Association provided the Builders with a notice of constructional defects pursuant to NRS 40.645(2) ("Notice"). Thereafter, the Association and the Builders participated in the prelitigation process required by NRS 40.600, *et seq.* On September 28, 2016, just two days after an unsuccessful pre-suit mediation required by NRS 40.680, the Builders filed suit against the Association. The Builders' complaint extensively references the Notice and, through claims for declaratory and substantive relief, seeks money damages and challenges the Association's ability to pursue claims related to the new constructional defects.

In compliance with NRC 12, the Association timely moved to dismiss the Builders' complaint and, after the district court denied that motion, timely filed its answer and counterclaim.

Thereafter, the Builders filed a series of motions for summary judgment on several of their claims for declaratory relief, each of which challenged the Association's ability to proceed with its constructional-defect claims. The Builders first challenged the sufficiency of the Association's Notice and then, after the district court granted leave for the Association to amend its Notice, challenged the amended Notice. The Builders next challenged the Association's standing to sue under NRS 116.3102(1)(d), which the district court denied.

In February 2019, 30 months after filing their complaint, the Builders filed a motion for summary judgment challenging the timeliness of the Association's counterclaim under the then-existing statute of repose. The Association opposed that motion and counter-moved under NRS 40.695(2) to extend the NRS 40.695(1) tolling period. On May 23, 2019, the district court granted the Builders' motion by finding the Association did not file its counterclaim before the NRS 40.695(1) tolling period expired and denied the Association's countermotion to extend the tolling period.

Days later, the Nevada Legislature passed and the Governor signed into law Assembly Bill 421 to retroactively lengthen the exact statute of repose used to time-

bar the Association's claims. The new, longer repose period rendered the Association's counterclaim timely, regardless of all other considerations. Despite this change in the law, the district court declined to modify its summary judgment order or alter or amend the Rule 54(b)-certified judgment consistent with the new controlling law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Factual Background

The Panorama Towers development consists of two 30-story towers containing 616 residential condominium units and an additional 33 units in six townhouse buildings. This suit focuses on the design and construction of the two towers, located at 4525 and 4575 Dean Martin Drive, Las Vegas (“Towers”).

The Builders and others developed and constructed the Towers between 2004 and 2008. The district court, in the proceedings below, determined the Towers were substantially completed on January 16, 2008, and March 31, 2008. 16 AA2388 at 12:4–6. The units within the Towers were sold, and the unit owners are part of a homeowner’s association organized pursuant to NRS 116 and known as Panorama Tower Condominium Unit Owners’ Association (“Association”).

In September 2009, the Association filed suit against the project developers, architect, and general contractor. 1 AA0052–0073 at ¶¶ 45–46. The developer defendants were defended by Bremer, Whyte, Brown & O’Meara, the same firm representing the Builders in the present suit. That suit was settled in June 2011. 1 AA0060 at ¶ 50. Significantly, the settlement agreement did not contain a general release of all claims, whether known or unknown, but only released the developer defendants from known claims: “This release specifically does not extend to claims arising out of defects not presently known to the HOA[.]” 1 AA0060–61 at ¶ 51.

Later in 2011, following the settlement, the Association became aware of piping deficiencies in the Towers' mechanical rooms. 1 AA0048–51. These deficiencies were not among the *known* claims released in June 2011. 2 AA0283 at ¶ 29(c). Having just settled the suit against the developers and others, however, the Association did not consider pursuing a new claim regarding the deficiencies in the mechanical rooms.

Subsequent to entering into a settlement, the Association sustained a common area, underground sewer malfunction and incurred costs repairing the malfunction. 2 AA0283 at ¶ 29(d).

In 2013, the Association became aware of a window leakage problem in one of the Tower units, 4525 Dean Martin Drive, Unit 300, and retained a construction consulting firm, CMA Consulting, to investigate. 5 AA0637–38 at ¶ 3. CMA's investigation uncovered a serious problem in the Tower's exterior window assemblies, which resulted in substantial leakage within the assemblies and caused rust and deterioration of the Towers' structural steel components. 5 AA0638 at ¶ 5(a). Repairing the problem required vacating the owner and his possessions, fully dismantling the unit's exterior wall assemblies, and installing a new window-wall system at a cost of over \$300,000 to the Association. *Id.* at ¶ 4. The repair took approximately 35 months to complete. *Id.*

From November 2015 through January 2016, CMA reviewed the Towers’ design and construction documents and inspected 15 other units in the Towers and verified that the window design problem in Unit 300 was constructed consistent with the Towers’ design documents and, therefore, existed throughout the Towers, impacting all 616 units and thousands of windows. 5 AA0638–40 at ¶¶ 6–11. This window design defect was also *not* one of the *known* problems released in June 2011. 2 AA0282–83 at ¶ 29(a).

In the course of investigating this serious window design problem, CMA discovered that required fire-blocking was missing throughout the Towers’ exterior wall assemblies. 5 AA0638 at ¶ 5(b). The fire-blocking defect was *not* one of the *known* problems released in June 2011. 2 AA0283 at ¶ 29(b).

B. Procedural Background

In 2015, the Nevada Legislature enacted Assembly Bill 125 (“AB 125”), effective February 24, 2015, which substantially revised Nevada’s constructional defect laws in several respects. Among other things, AB 125 required claimants to provide much more specificity when identifying constructional defects in the initial notice to the builder (NRS 40.645(2)), precluded an association from asserting claims for constructional defects not within the development’s common areas (NRS 116.3102(1)(d)), and shortened the statute of repose for constructional defects from up to 10 years to six years (NRS 11.202(1)). Due to the shortened statute of repose,

as required by this Court's precedent, AB 125 contained a one-year grace period for potential claimants to bring claims. 8 AA1227 at Sec. 21(6).

On February 24, 2016, the Association served the Builders with its notice of constructional defects pursuant to NRS 40.645 ("Notice"). 1 AA0001–51. The Notice identified the window and fire-blocking deficiencies discovered in 2013 and 2014, and included the previously discovered mechanical room piping and sewer deficiencies. The district court subsequently ruled that the notice was timely filed within AB 125's grace period. 16 AA2388 at 12:8–12.

Thereafter, the Association and Builders engaged in pre-litigation proceedings pursuant to NRS 40.680, including the Builders' inspection of the defective conditions identified in the Notice and the mandatory pre-litigation mediation. On September 26, 2016, the parties participated in an unsuccessful mediation. *Id.* at 12:18–19.

Two days later, on September 28, 2016, the Builders filed their strategic, preemptive complaint against the Association, asserting several causes of action, including claims for declaratory relief and breach of the prior settlement agreement. 1 AA0052–73.

In October 2016, the Builders provided the Association with an extension to respond to the complaint. 24 AA4109 at 6:22. On December 7, 2016, the Association timely filed a motion to dismiss the Builders' complaint. 1 AA0074–85. By order

filed on February 9, 2017, the district court denied the motion without explanation. 2 AA0261–62.

On March 1, 2017, the Association timely filed its answer and counterclaim asserting its claims related to the constructional defects identified in the Notice. The Association asserted tort-based claims for negligence and products liability, contract-based claims for breach of contract, breach of warranty, and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and a statutory claim based on the non-disclosure of defects. 2 AA0263–296.

On March 20, 2017, the Builders filed the first of their four carefully sequenced case-dispositive motions,² this one for summary judgment challenging, among other things, the sufficiency of the Association’s Notice. 2–4 AA0297–400. On September 15, 2017, the district court filed an order resolving this motion and dismissed the Association’s claims related to the mechanical room piping defect on the ground that it was barred by the statute of limitation, gave the Association leave to amend the Notice to provide additional specificity regarding the window, fire-blocking, and sewer defects, and stayed the entire action for six months to allow the Association to provide the Builders with an amended Chapter 40 notice. 4 AA0497–516.

² 22 AA3672 at 9:19–20 and 27 AA4764 at 11:3–4 (admitting Builders filed all motions for summary judgment with intentional, strategic timing and sequencing).

On October 10, 2017, the Association filed a motion for clarification of the September 15, 2017 order regarding the sewer and fire-blocking defects. 4 AA0517–46. The Association sought more details regarding the basis under the law the sewer defect claim failed to satisfy Chapter 40 and why the fire blocking claim required inspection at every location where claimed to exist in order to meet satisfy the notice requirements under Chapter 40. 4 AA0521 at 5:8–15. The district court denied the motion without explanation by order filed on February 1, 2018. 5 AA0584–0585.

On March 15, 2018, the district court extended the stay for an additional 30 days. 5 AA0589–90 at 4:25–5:22.

On April 5, 2018, in accordance with the district court’s September 15, 2017 order, the Association served the Builders with an amended notice of defects pursuant to NRS 40.645(2) containing additional specificity regarding the window, fire-blocking, and sewer defects (“Amended Notice”). 5 AA0594–641.

On August 3, 2018, the Builders filed a motion for summary judgment challenging the sufficiency of the Amended Notice, 5–6 AA0651–839, on which the district court ruled by order filed on November 30, 2018 (“Notice Order”). 10 AA1508–25. As to the window design defect, the Association argued and the district court agreed that the Amended Notice met the Association’s notice obligations under NRS 40.645(2) because the window deficiency, as alleged by the Association, involved a design error that affected 100% of the windows. 10 AA1520–21 at 13:7–

14:7, 14:12–24. As to the fire-blocking defect, the district court ruled the Amended Notice was insufficient because the deficiency involved an installation error that was not alleged to exist in all locations and the Amended Notice failed to identify the “specific locations” where the defect existed. 10 AA1522 at 15:5–7. The district court also ruled that the Amended Notice was deficient as to the sewer defect because, the sewer having been repaired, it failed to identify the installation error. *Id.* at 15:18–27. Accordingly, the district court found the Amended Notice insufficient as to the fire-blocking and sewer defects and allowed the case to proceed on the Association’s claims related to the window design defect. 10 AA1523 at 16:3–7.

On October 22, 2018, the Builders filed their third dispositive motion, this one for summary judgment on their claim for declaratory relief challenging the Association’s standing to assert claims for the window design defect. 7–9 AA 1180–1450. The district court entered an order denying that motion on March 11, 2019. 15 AA2231–33.

On December 17, 2018, the Builders filed a motion for reconsideration of the Notice Order, 10–11 AA1526–1638, which was denied by order filed on March 11, 2019. 14 AA2228–30.

On February 11, 2019, having failed to defeat the Association’s claims through their previous motions, the Builders filed their fourth dispositive motion,

this time a motion for summary judgment grounded in NRS 11.202(1), which had been shortened in 2015 by AB 125 from 10 years to six years. 14 AA2052–2141. On March 1, 2019, the Association filed its opposition, which included a countermotion for relief pursuant to NRS 40.695(2) and urged the district court to follow the good-cause framework adopted in *Scrimmer v. District Court*, 116 Nev. 507, 998 P.2d 1190 (2000). 14 AA2199–2227. On May 23, 2019, the district court ruled (1) the Association timely served the Notice before expiration of the statute of repose and the one-year grace period provided by AB 125, (2) the Associated did not timely file its defect counterclaims after the Chapter 40 pre-litigation process, (3) the Association did not demonstrate good cause to extend the tolling of the statute of repose pursuant to NRS 40.695(2), and, therefore, (4) the Association’s claims related to the window defect were untimely pursuant to NRS 11.202(1) (“Repose Order”). 15–16 AA2377–95.

On June 1, 2019, nine days after the district court entered the Repose Order, the Nevada Legislature passed Assembly Bill 421 (“AB 421”), which Governor Sisolak signed into law on June 3, 2019. 16 AA02429–43. AB 421 reversed several of the AB 125 changes for constructional defect claimants. Among other things, AB 421 extended the statute of repose from six years to 10 years and expressly made this extension retroactive:

Sec. 7. NRS 11.202 is hereby amended to read as follows:

11.202 1. No action may be commenced against the owner, occupier or any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, supervision or observation of construction, or the construction of an improvement to real property ***more than 10 years after the substantial completion*** of such an improvement, for the recovery of damages for:

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, any deficiency in the design, planning, supervision or observation of construction or the construction of such an improvement;

(b) Injury to real or personal property caused by any such deficiency; or

(c) Injury to or the wrongful death of a person caused by any such deficiency.

...

Sec. 11. . . .

4. The period of limitations on actions set forth in NRS 11.202, as amended by section 7 of this act, apply retroactively to actions in which the substantial completion of the improvement to the real property occurred before October 1, 2019.

16 AA2436, 16 AA2443. (emphasis added).³

Earlier in the day on June 3, 2019, the Association timely sought reconsideration of the Repose Order, noting that AB 421 was awaiting the Governor's signature. 16 AA2455 at 12:4–5. On June 13, 2019, after the Governor signed AB 421 into law, the Association filed another motion for reconsideration of

³ In 2008, the year in which the district court determined the Towers were substantially completed (at the Builders' request), 10 years was the longest statute of repose for constructional defect claimants. Although AB 125 created a brief, intervening period with a shorter statute of repose, AB 421's enactment in 2019 changed the statute of repose back to the 10-year period that existed in 2008 and eliminated the more complicated tiered repose system that existed before 2015.

the Repose Order based on AB 421's enactment. 16 AA2475–2505. On July 16, 2019, the district court heard both motions for reconsideration, denied the first motion, and took the second motion under submission. 16–22 AA2506–3663. On August 9, 2019, the district court entered its order denying the Association's second motion for reconsideration (“Reconsideration Order”). 25 AA4369–76. In the Reconsideration Order, the district court ruled that, pursuant to NRS 218D.330(1), the retroactive extension of the statute of repose to 10 years, as enacted via AB 421 on June 3, 2019, would not become effective until October 1, 2019. 25 AA4374–75 at 6:22–7:7.

Meanwhile, on July 22, 2019, the Builders filed a motion to have the Repose Order certified as a final judgment pursuant to NRCP 54(b). 25 AA4277–4312. On August 12, 2019, the district court granted that motion over the Association's objection (“Rule 54(b) Order”). 25 AA4377–89. The Builders filed a notice of entry of the Rule 54(b) Order the next day. 25 AA4390–4405.

On September 9, 2019, the Association timely filed a motion to alter or amend the Repose Order pursuant to NRCP 59(e) (“Rule 59(e) Motion”). 25–26 AA4406–76. On October 17, 2019, the district court heard the Association's Rule 59(e) Motion. 26 AA4509–25. On January 14, 2020, the district court entered its order denying the Rule 59(e) Motion, declining to apply AB 421 because, among other things, it believed the court applied the correct law at the time it entered the Repose

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