#### Case No. 80615

#### In the Supreme Court of Nevada

PANORAMA TOWERS CONDOMINIUM UNIT OWNERS' ASSOCIATION,

Appellant,

vs.

LAURENT HALLIER; PANORAMA TOWERS I, LLC; PANORAMA TOWERS I MEZZ, LLC; and M.J. DEAN CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Mar 12 2021 11:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable SUSAN H. JOHNSON, District Judge District Court Case No. A-16-744146-D

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Joel D. Henriod (SBN 8492)
Abraham G. Smith (SBN 13,250)
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie Llp
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Association's construction defect claims were subject to a six-year statute of repose that expired on March 18, 2014, with a grace period that, as applied here, ended on February 24, 2016. There is no dispute here that the Association failed to commence an action on those claims by that date. Consequently, the claims are time-barred. *Byrne*, 136 Nev., Adv. Op. 69, 475 P.3d at 42. For purposes of this appeal, that should end the inquiry.

The Association submitted its opening brief without the benefit of *Byrne*. Nevertheless, even before *Byrne* conclusively resolved the issue in this appeal, the Association's arguments were wrong on their own terms:

(i) The brief maintains (at 19) that, by enacting AB 421, the legislature amended the applicable statute of repose in a way that was retroactive, allowing the Association's extinguished counterclaims to be resurrected. That contention ignores that the Builders' repose had already become secure before the Association filed its counterclaims and that the

district court entered a final judgment before that legislation became effective; thus, when the district court entered final judgment, the court applied the law that existed at the time and did so correctly. That contention also ignores that when, as here, retroactive application would divest the Builders of a protectable right, AB 421 may not be applied that way without violating due process principles.

(ii) The brief maintains (at 28) that its untimely claims were compulsory counterclaims that related back to the filing of the Builders' complaint. *Byrne* makes that contention irrelevant because the Builders' complaint was filed more than seven months after the expiration of the grace period for filing a construction-defect action. Regardless, the Association's contention disregards that compulsory counterclaims do not relate back, but even if they do, the contract on which the Association bases its counterclaims is not the subject of any claim asserted in the Builders' complaint, which means that the counterclaims are, at best, permissive and not compulsory. And permissive counterclaims do not relate

back.

(iii) The brief maintains (at 36) that the district court should have recognized a good cause extension of the tolling period. That contention ignores two points: first, the fact that tolling under NRS 40.695(1) is permitted only where the statute of repose has not already expired, which, confirmed by this court's decision in *Byrne*, it has here; and second, that the "primary focus" of a good-cause inquiry is the claimant's explanation for "not complying with the time limit in the first place." MCI Telecomm. Corp., v. Teleconcepts, Inc., 71 F.3d 1086, 1097 (3d Cir. 1995) (cited with approval in Nunnery v. State, 127 Nev. 749, 765-66, 263 P.3d 235, 247 (2011)). Neither the opening brief, nor anything submitted to the district court for that matter, amounts to a reasonable excuse for the Association's failure to commence an action on its claims before they became time-barred.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

#### THE COUNTERCLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED

The Association may resurrect its expired counterclaims only if this court overrules *Byrne*, treats the district court's final judgment as something other than final, *and* ignores that the running of a statute of repose creates a protected vested right. This Court should not do that. It should apply *Byrne* and ordinary due process principles that protect defendants who have a vested right of repose.

#### A. Byrne is Dispositive

When the Legislature enacted AB 125 in 2015, the statute of repose applicable to the Association's construction defect claims was reduced to six years, and the Legislature expressly directed to have the time period apply retroactively. Without the grace period, the Association's claims would have been time-barred on the day the statute became effective, because more than six years had passed since the Builders' work was substantially completed in 2008.

To protect claimants like the Association from that result, the

Legislature created a one-year grace period, which allowed an action on

otherwise time-barred claims to be commenced not later than one year after the statute's effective date, or February 24, 2016. As this Court explained, the grace period was just a mechanism "by which a claimant could have saved his or her claim from being suddenly time-barred due to the shortened, retroactive statute of repose." 136 Nev., Adv. Op. 69, 475 P.3d at 42. But

the grace period itself did not constitute a new statute of repose subject to tolling. Rather, the grace period was a distinct mechanism established by the Legislature, by which a claimant could have saved his or her claim from being suddenly time-barred due to the shortened, retroactive statute of repose. In order to salvage a claim under the grace period, a claimant had to commence an action.

Id.

That deadline passed, however, without the Association's filing a lawsuit. Instead, like the plaintiffs in *Byrne*, on the last day of the grace period, the Association merely served the Builders with a notice of defects as provided by NRS 40.695(1). As *Byrne* recognizes, service of that notice does not toll the statute of repose. Given the plain language of AB 125, a claimant, like the Association here, is required to "file[] a lawsuit within the grace period, not merely serve[] an NRS Chapter 40 Notice[,] to preserve [the claimant's] action." 475 P.3d at 42.

Because the Association filed no lawsuit before the grace period expired on February 24, 2016, the Association's later-filed construction defect claims, like the claim in *Byrne*, were untimely. The Builders' repose from liability on construction-defect claims guaranteed under the new statute became secure. Since the Association's claims were already time-barred at the time it served its notice, no tolling was permitted, and therefore any analysis of "good cause" to extend the tolling period is superfluous:

[B]y the time [the Association] served an NRS Chapter 40 Notice in [February 2016], the statute of repose had already expired. In other words, in [February 2016], there was no statute of repose left to toll. Furthermore, the grace period itself did not constitute a new statute of repose subject to tolling.

136 Nev., Adv. Op. 69, 475 P.3d at 42.

It is also irrelevant whether the Association could relate their counterclaims back to the Builders' complaint: The Builders filed their complaint on September 28, 2016, within thirty days of the mandatory prelitigation mediation but more than seven months after the grace period expired, so that would not have the effect of timely "commenc[ing]" a lawsuit as *Byrne* requires.

# B. AB 421—Enacted After the Builders Had Already Been Given Repose, and Not Effective until after the Final Judgment—Does Not Save the Counterclaims

Leaving *Byrne* aside, the Association's opening brief is flawed principally because of its disregard for the finality of the district court's August 13, 2019, judgment and the effect of finality. Indeed, treating that judgment for what it is, a final judgment, moots most of what is said in the opening brief.

When the Association filed a post-judgment motion under NRCP 59(e), that did not somehow transform the judgment into something that was not final. Indeed, if the contrary were true, the Association's Rule 59(e) motion was out of order because such motions are premature in the absence of a final judgment. NRCP 59(e) (stating that rule applies only to judgments); NRCP 54(a) (defining "judgment" to include orders and decrees that are appealable); see also e.g., Auto Servs. Co. v. KPMG, LLP, 537 F.3d 853, 856 (8th Cir. 2008) (stating that "a Rule 59(e) motion . . . may only be filed after the [district] court enters the final judgment"); Hollis v. Reisenhoover, No. 17-00326 BLF (PR), 2019 WL 5423454, at \*1 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 22, 2019) (denying Rule 59(e) motion

as premature because "[j]udgment has yet to be entered in this matter").

To overcome that, the Association would have this court read an effective date into AB 421 that is not there or, otherwise, conclude that the statute's retroactivity provision applies to, and thus saves, the Association's counterclaims. As explained below, both of those contentions defy well-settled law.

#### 1. AB 421 Became Effective Only After Entry of Judgment

Because no effective date appears in AB 421, by operation of law, that statute became effective on October 1, 2019, or nearly seven weeks after the district court entered its final judgment. NRS 218D.330(1) ("Each law . . . passed by the Legislature becomes effective on October 1 following its passage, unless the law . . . specifically prescribes a different effective date." (emphasis added)). There is no indication that the Legislature intended AB 421 to resurrect claims that had already expired years before its enactment, and certainly not to force the judiciary to reopen a case that had proceeded to a judgment.

Contrary to the opening brief's suggestion (at 24) that AB 421 "makes no practical sense" unless this court reads what is an unstated

effective date into the statute, whether the Legislature's decision not to include an effective date makes "practical sense" should not concern this court. See, e.g., Antonin Scalia, A Matter of Interpretation: FEDERAL COURTS AND THE LAW 20 (1997) ("Congress can enact foolish statutes as well as wise ones, and it is not for the courts to decide which is which and rewrite the former."). Stated otherwise, it is not for this court to insert an effective date in a statute where none appears, particularly when a statute already prescribes a default effective date. E.g., Rotkiske v. Klemm, 140 S. Ct. 355, 360-61 (2019) ("It is a fundamental principle of statutory interpretation that absent provision[s] cannot be supplied by the courts." (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)); see also Lamie v. U.S. Trustee, 540 U.S. 526, 538 (2004) (rejecting statutory interpretation that "would have [the Court] read an absent word into the statute" because such an interpretation "would result not [in] a construction of [the] statute, but, in effect, an enlargement of it by the court" (second and third alterations in original, citation and internal quotation marks omitted)); Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Read-ING LAW: THE INTERPRETATION OF LEGAL TEXTS 93 (2012) ("[A] matter

not covered [in a statute] is to be treated as not covered."); see also Burrage v. United States, 571 U.S. 204, 218 (2014) ("The role of th[e] court is to apply the statute as it is written – even if we think some other approach might accor[d] with good policy." (citation and internal quotation marks omitted, second alteration in original)).

Fairly considered, moreover, it is the Association's interpretation of AB 421 that makes no practical sense. Consider the following hypothetical:

- Construction work on claimant's property is substantially completed on January 1, 2008. At the time, a 10-year statute of repose is in effect.
- AB 125 reduces the statute of repose to six years, effective February 24, 2015, retroactively beginning the repose period as of January 1, 2014. The Legislature, however, allows the one-year grace period, through February 24, 2016, for claims that otherwise would be barred.
- Claimant allows the grace period to expire and files suit alleging various construction defects on January 1,

2017, more than six years but fewer than 10 years after substantial completion.

 Applying AB 125, the district court dismisses the claims as time-barred with a final judgment entered on July 1, 2019.

If the Association's interpretation of AB 421 were applied to these hypothetical facts, the statute of repose would not expire until later this year, and therefore, the claimant would be permitted to have the final judgment vacated so that the claims could be pursued. As such, if there is an interpretation of AB 421 that looks past the principle that statutes should be construed in a way that avoids absurd results, surely it is the construction of AB 421 that the Association has advanced. See e.g., Newell v. State, 131 Nev. 974, 977, 364 P.3d 602, 604 (2015) (applying principle that statutes should not be interpreted when the result is "unreasonable and absurd"). At the very least, in words that remain appropriate today, Chief Justice John Marshall said that, before a court will recognize that application of a statute as written promotes an absurd result, "the absurdity and injustice of applying the provision to the

case[] would be so monstrous[] that all mankind would, without hesitation, unite in rejecting the application." *Sturges v. Crowninshield*, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 122, 202–03 (1819). The absurdity posited by the Association's opening brief falls well short of one that "all mankind, without hesitation" would recognize.<sup>1</sup>

The opening brief's contention (at 21 n.6) that federal courts correct judgments "when there has been an intervening change in the law" overlooks that in none of the cases cited in the brief did a court allow what the Association urges here, viz., the undoing of a final judgment based on law that did not exist at the time the judgment was entered. Not only that, but the opening brief's contention (at 21 n.6) that "[f]ederal courts use FRCP 59(e) . . . to correct judgments when there has been an intervening change in controlling law" is not supported by any of the cases that the brief cites because an intervening change of law was not an issue in any of those cases. See, e.g., McDowell v. Calderon, 197 F.3d 1253, 1255 (9th Cir. 1999) (Rule 59(e) motion did not "allege[] an intervening change in the controlling law"); Virgin Atl. Airways, Ltd. v. Nat'l Mediation Bd., 956 F.2d 1245, 1254 (1992) (cross-appellant did not urge an intervening change in the law). Likewise, none of the Nevada appellate decisions on which the opening brief (some of it noncitable under NRAP 36(c)(3)) relies (at 21) considered an intervening change in the law, much less a change that occurred after entry of a final judgment. See, e.g., Williams as Trustee for L.D.W. III R.E. Assets Living Trust v. Clear Recon Corp., No. 77112-COA, 2020 WL 3568636, 466 P.3d 541, at \*5 (Nev. Ct. App. June 30, 2020) (unpublished and noncitable) ("[appellant's] motion for a rehearing did not address any of the grounds" for a Rule 59(e) motion).

## 2. The Final Judgment Defeats Retroactive Application of AB 421

The Association's interpretation of the retroactivity provision in AB 421 would, in effect, allow an act of the legislature to vacate a final judgment. Courts faced with that issue have repeatedly rejected that outcome. For example, in Adams v. Fidelity & Cas. Co., the court recognized that, although legislation may affect "pending" actions, "when those actions have passed into judgment the power of the legislature to disturb the rights created thereby ceases." 147 F.R.D. 265, 268 (S.D. Fla. 1993). In doing so, the court relied on a principle that has been applied since at least the late 19th century: in McCullough v. Commonwealth of Virginia, the Supreme Court concluded that, even though a statute had been repealed after the entry of judgment by the trial court, "the court of appeals, in considering the question of the validity of this judgment, took no notice of the subsequent repeal of the act under which the judgment was obtained" because "we have no doubt that the rights acquired by the judgment under [then-existing law] were not disturbed by a subsequent repeal of the statute." 172 U.S. 102, 123-24 (1898) (cited in Adams, 147 F.R.D. at 268). Modern day courts are in accord. E.g., United States v. McGlory, 968 F.2d 309, 350 (3d Cir. 1992)

("Generally, . . . when a legislature repeals a statute, the repeal is not applied retroactively to final judgments"); Treiber v. Katz, 796 F.Supp. 1054, 1061 (E.D. Mich. 1992) ("Once a lawsuit is finally adjudicated, the rights become vested and Congress cannot constitutionally divest them"); Safechuck v. MJJ Prods., Inc., 43 Cal. App. 5th 1094, 1100 (2020) ("Retroactive application of statutory revisions cannot, however, reopen cases that have been litigated to final judgments"); see also Bachman v. McLinn, 65 So. 3d 71, 73 (Fla. App. 2011) (declining to apply amended statute retroactively that became effective after final judgment was entered); Int'l Fid. Ins. Co., Inc. v. State, 567 N.E.2d 1161, 1164 (Ind. App. 1991) ("When a final judgment has been rendered in a case, a subsequent statutory amendment will not apply" to that judgment).

> 3. The Expiration of the Association's Claims which Vested the Builder's Right to Repose— Defeats Retroactive Application of AB 421

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